ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE SPECI AL COW TTEE ON M LI TARY AND VETERANS' AFFAI RS
February 9, 2012
1:08 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representati ve Dan Saddl er, Co-Chair
Representati ve Steve Thonpson, Co-Chair
Representative Carl Gatto, Vice Chair
Representative Al an Austerman
Representative Bob Lynn

Representati ve Sharon Ci ssna
Representative Bob Ml ler

VEMBERS ABSENT

Al'l nenbers present

OTHER LEQ SLATORS PRESENT

Representative Bill Thomas, Jr.

COW TTEE CALENDAR

HOUSE BI LL NO. 281

“"An Act establishing March 30 of each year as Wl cone Hone
Vi et nam Vet erans Day."

- MOVED HB 281 QUT OF COW TTEE

HOUSE BI LL NO. 234
"An Act relating to picketing or protests at a funeral."

- MOVED HB 234 OUT OF COW TTEE
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: HB 281

SHORT TI TLE. WELCOVE HOME VI ETNAM VETERANS DAY
SPONSOR(s): REPRESENTATI VE(s) THOVAS

01/17/ 12 (H) READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS
01/ 17/ 12 (H) MLV
02/ 09/ 12 (H MLV AT 1:00 PM CAPI TOL 120

BILL: HB 234

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -1- February 9, 2012



SHORT TI TLE: Pl CKETI NG AND PROTESTS AT FUNERALS
SPONSOR(s): REPRESENTATI VE(s) THOVAS

04/ 09/ 11 (H) READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS
04/ 09/ 11 (H MV, JUD
02/ 09/ 12 (H M.V AT 1:00 PM CAPI TOL 120

W TNESS REG STER

AARON SCHROEDER, St af f

Representative Bill Thomas, Jr.

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TION  STATEMENT: Introduced HB 281 on behalf of
Representati ve Thomas, prine sponsor.

REPRESENTATI VE Bl LL THOMAS, JR

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Speaking as the prinme sponsor, provided
testi mony and answered questions during the hearing on HB 281.

DOUG GARDNER, Director

Legi sl ative Legal and Research Services

Legi sl ative Affairs Agency (LAA)

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answered questions during the hearing on HB
234.

JEFFREY M TTMAN, Executive Director

American Civil Liberties Union of Al aska (ACLU of Al aska)

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to HB 234 and
answer ed questi ons.

ANNE CARPENETI, Assistant Attorney General

Legal Services Section

Crimnal Division

Depart ment of Law (DQL)

Juneau, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answered a question during the hearing on
HB 234.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

1: 08: 49 PM

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE - 2- February 9, 2012



CO CHAIR STEVE THOWPSON called the House Special Conmmttee on
Mlitary and Veterans' Affairs neeting to order at 1:08 p.m
Representatives Thonpson, Saddler, MIller, GC ssna, Lynn, and
Gatto were present at the call to order. Representati ve
Aust er man arrived as t he meeti ng was in pr ogr ess.
Representati ve Thonas was al so present.

HB 281- WELCOVE HOVE VI ETNAM VETERANS DAY

1: 09: 44 PM

CO CHAIR THOWPSON announced that the first order of business
woul d be HOUSE BILL NO 281, "An Act establishing March 30 of
each year as Wl cone Hone Vi et nam Veterans Day."

1: 09: 54 PM

AARON SCHRCEDER, Staff, Representative Bill Thomas, Jr., Al aska
State Legislature, introduced HB 281 on behalf of Representative
Thomas, prinme sponsor. M. Schroeder informed the conmttee
that last year - on the 30th anniversary of the wthdrawal of
U.S. conbat and conbat support units from Vietnam - the U S
Senat e designated March 30 as Wl cone Hone Vi et nam Veterans Day.
House Bill 281 proposes that March 30 of each year would be
designated as Wl cone Hone Vietnam Veterans Day, to be observed
by suitable observances and exercises by civic groups and the
invited public. M. Schroeder added that the bill does not call
for a state holiday.

1: 11: 06 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN said he was in Vietnam on ceasefire day,
March 30, 1973, and he will renenber it for a long, long tine.

CO- CHAI R SADDLER asked what kinds of observances and activities
woul d be appropriate on this day.

MR. SCHROEDER suggested that groups such as the Veterans of
Foreign Wars (VFW would hold services, and that organizations
of younger troops would al so want to acknow edge the services of
Vietnamvets to the veterans' comunities.

1:12: 39 PM

CO CHAIR SADDLER encouraged observers to be happy and upbeat
when recogni zi ng this day.

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE - 3- February 9, 2012



CO- CHAI R THOVPSON opened public testinony.
1:13: 25 PM

REPRESENTATI VE BI LL THOVAS, JR, Alaska State Legislature, prine
sponsor of HB 281, stated he is one of 2,500,000 soldiers who

served i n-country during t he Vi etnam  War, i ncl udi ng
Representative Lynn, Representative Guenberg, and the Ilate
Representative R chard Foster. He noted that of the 58,272

soldiers who died in the war many were young; in fact, 25,000 of
those who died were 20 years old or younger and 57 soldiers from
Al aska were killed in action. Representative Thomas said the
bill is not just to honor those who served in-country, but is
for all of the veterans in all branches of the services who
served during the tinme period from 1964 to 1973. He related a
few of his experiences during that tinme and rem nded the
commttee of the suffering of surviving famly menbers and that
of returning soldiers who are afflicted with post-traumatic
stress syndrone. He recalled the day he returned to the U S in
1968: There were wire screens on the wi ndows of the buses and
the back door was welded shut because of the protesters
surrounding Travis Ar Force Base, and there were nore
protesters at the Presidio. He was very upset and angry on what

shoul d have been the happiest day of his life. Representati ve
Thomas noted that "the attitude is a little different” for
veterans returning now. In addition, he opined the mlitary

from any war should be buried with honors, with no protesting
allowed, and assured the commttee that others feel just as
strongly.

1: 21: 27 PM

REPRESENTATI VE ClI SSNA observed that Alaska has the highest
nunber of veterans per capita in the nation. She asked how many
veterans in Al aska are veterans of the Vietnam War.

REPRESENTATI VE THOMAS said he was wunsure, but in his hone
village 1 percent of the population was serving in Vietnam at
one tine. The percentage of Vietnamera veterans in Hoonah is
approximately 40 percent. The percentages in Native conmunities
are very high because many of the residents were draft ed.

1:23: 23 PM
REPRESENTATIVE CISSNA said the nation has <changed in its

understanding of the Vietnam War and nmany veterans sacrificed
their lives or their quality of life; in fact, as veterans age

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -4- February 9, 2012



t hey have much greater needs. She expressed her understanding
that Al askans - especially rural Al askans - have played a bigger
role in the US mlitary than the residents of other states.

1: 25: 02 PM

REPRESENTATI VE THOVAS agreed. His famly includes many veterans
of the Arny and the National Guard, and they are very patriotic.
Veterans are treated with respect now, but when he cane hone
he threw his nmedals and uniformin the trash. Now, however, he
said he is very proud and cel ebrates with other veterans.

CO CHAIR THOMPSON said he and others offer to pay for troops'
nmeal s.

REPRESENTATI VE THOVAS sai d when he encounters service nenbers in
airports he wel cones them hone.

1: 27: 28 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN noted there is a tradition anong Vietnam
veterans to welcome troops hone now. He shared sone of his
experiences while serving in the mlitary, and expressed his
strong support for the bill.

REPRESENTATI VE THOVAS agr eed.
1: 30: 00 PM

CO CHAI R SADDLER asked whether the country has changed enough so
that this type of bill wll not be necessary for those who
return fromother conflicts.

REPRESENTATI VE THOVAS said each conflict is different and
deserves its own honor.

CO CHAI R THOVWPSON det erm ned that no one el se wished to testify.
1:31:49 PM

CO CHAI R SADDLER noved to report HB 281, identified as Version
27-LS0791\M out of commttee wth individual recomendations
and the acconpanying zero fiscal notes. There being no
objection, HB 281 was reported from the House Special Conmittee
on Mlitary and Veterans' Affairs.

1: 32: 50 PM

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE - 5- February 9, 2012



The commttee took an at-ease from1:32 p.m to |:35 p. m
1:35:54 PM

HB 234- Pl CKETI NG AND PROTESTS AT FUNERALS

1:36: 05 PM

CO CHAI R THOWPSON announced that the final order of business
woul d be HOUSE BILL NO 234, "An Act relating to picketing or
protests at a funeral."

1: 36: 12 PM

AARON SCHROEDER, staff, Representative Bill Thomas, Jr., Al aska
State Legislature, introduced HB 234 on behalf of Representative

Thomas, prinme sponsor. M. Schroeder said since 1998 funeral
pi cketi ng has gained popularity with groups hoping to publicize
their political agenda. Currently the state does not have

gui delines for such cases, and HB 234 would bring Alaska in line
with 46 other states by setting guidelines for a 150-foot buffer
from the boundary of a church, cenetery, or funeral honme one
hour before, during, and one hour after a funeral service.
Further, menbers attending the funeral are nenbers of a captive
audi ence that warrant protection. In the case of a protest,
famlies are expected to conduct thenselves in a certain manner,
and the sponsors of the bill expect the same of protestors.

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN said he supports the bill. However, he
questioned the choice of the distance of 150 feet when federa
| aw banning protests at national ceneteries sets the distance
from 150 feet to 300 feet. Oher legislation indicates a buffer
zone ranging from 150 feet to 1,500 feet.

1: 38: 15 PM

MR. SCHRCEDER expl ai ned that there are two parts to the federa
| aw; one part sets a 300-foot buffer around the boundary of a
cenmetery, and the second part sets a 150-foot buffer around the
funeral procession as it travels along a route. In order to
make the "captive audi ence" argunent, "there has to be a certain
anount of pressure there, they have to be close to nake that
| egal argunent."”

1: 39: 05 PM

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE - 6- February 9, 2012



REPRESENTATI VE LYNN expressed his belief that the bill does not
include a public street or roadway - where the funera

procession goes from the nortuary to the cenetery - and said
"depending on where the lot is, it could be a long drive from
the entrance of the cenetery to the gravesite." He asked
whet her the road could be inside the cenetery.

MR. SCHRCEDER expl ained that the 150-foot distance applies to
the boundary of the funeral hone, cenetery, or church. In
further response to Representative Lynn, he said "the perineter,
correct."

1: 39: 58 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN asked for an estimate of the distance, and
opined "that's pretty close if I'mgrieving for a |oved one, and
sone clown is over there."

MR. SCHRCEDER suggested that if the conmmttee is interested in
extending the buffer zone it may seek advice from the director
of Legislative Legal and Research Services, Legislative Affairs
Agency.

1: 40: 54 PM

CO CHAI R SADDLER referred to page 3, lines 18 and 19 of the bill
and read the definition of picketing:

, engaged in by a person, that disrupt or are
undertaken to disturb a funeral.

CO- CHAIR SADDLER cautioned that could include "sone elenent of
what soneone's state of mnd or intent is,"” and the person may
claim he or she is not trying to disturb a funeral. He
expl ained further that sone groups that engage in protests at
funerals may not be seeking to disturb the funeral, but to get
attention and publicity. This language in the bill may allow
themto enter the buffer zone.

1:42: 56 PM

MR. SCHROEDER clarified that the drafter of the bill inserted
this language in order to help |law enforcenent detern ne what
pi cketing neans. He deferred to M. Gardner for further
response.

1:43: 28 PM

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -7- February 9, 2012



DOUG GARDNER, Director, Legislative Legal and Research Services,
Legislative Affairs Agency (LAA), restated Co-Chair Saddler's
concern about nmental state: whether a person may argue that they

were not trying to disrupt the funeral itself. He advised that
when the legislature is drafting statutes that affect First
Amendnent  rights, it nust |ook to other cases to provide
appropriate | anguage. In 2008, the Phel ps-Roper v. Strickland
case specifically provided for this section in the proposed
bill, in that it described other protest activities neant to
di srupt or disturb a funeral or burial service. Thus, HB 234
does not restrict all activities, and the mental state of a
person is addressed on page 2, lines 30 and 31, which read:

(8) the person knowingly engages in picketing with
reckl ess disregard that the picketing occurs

MR. GARDNER continued to explain that "know ngly engages in"
denonstrates mental state and the "reckless disregard" is wth
respect to the disruption to the funeral. Further, in order for
the state to establish a significant state interest, the state
has to have an interest in protecting from certain types of
conduct, and the statute would restrict disruption, even though
the disruption could be considered a positive statenent or a
negative one by different parties. He said, "The statute
attenpts to draw a narrow, narrow border around the types of
activities that are being regulated, [and] in doing so, to
conply with the First Amendnent requirenents that this not be
overly broad."

1:47:40 PM

CO- CHAI R SADDLER surm sed the existing |anguage has been upheld
by the U S. Suprene Court.

MR. GARDNER pointed out that the US. Supreme Court has not
dealt with a state crimnal statute regulating picketing at
funeral s. However, the U S. Court of Appeals for the Sixth and
Eighth Grcuits are split on this issue, thus the |anguage has
passed constitutional nuster, and the definition was included in
t he proposed bill.

1:49: 08 PM

CO CHAIR SADDLER asked whether "reckless" presunes activity
Wi t hin t he geogr aphi c 150- f oot [imt and during t he

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE - 8- February 9, 2012



chronological limts of one hour before and one hour after, so -
out side of those paraneters - reckless activities are all owed.

MR. GARDNER confirnmed that the statute only attenpts to regul ate
time, place, and manner. However, other |aws or ordinances may
be applicable to behavior outside the reach of the statute.

1: 50: 38 PM

CO- CHAIR SADDLER asked for guidelines as to the "nunerica
outside limts" of buffer zones that would be upheld by the
courts.

MR. GARDNER recalled 300-f oot buf f er zones "received a
consi derabl e anobunt of scrutiny;" however, that distance seened
too far for sone small Alaska conmunities and 150 feet was
deened appropri ate.

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN asked whether egregious or insulting signs
are disruptive.

1:52: 40 PM

MR. GARDNER opined that the bill as drafted would hold that
| anguage on signs and picketing would fit in the definition of
di srupting a funeral. The concept of the bill is to allow

attendees to have a funeral in peace without interference from
people on either side of an issue, and signs "would fit within
the statute.”

1: 54: 32 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN asked whether there is a crimnal equivalent
to suing for enotional distress.

MR GARDNER said emptional distress is a civil matter not
addressed by crimnal |aw.

REPRESENTATI VE CI SSNA agreed with Representative Lynn on the
horror of those who abuse the grieving, but expressed her
concern for the loss of constitutional rights. She noted that
there may be activities in a comunity that are "very loud or
very bold," and asked for a way to judge the distance of the
buffer zone.

1:57: 01 PM

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -9- February 9, 2012



CO CHAIR THOMPSON stated that 150 feet is one-half of the length
of a football field.

MR. GARDNER, in response to Representative Cissna's question
about how | oud noise would be at the 150-foot distance, said he
did not know what "a decision-maker would conclude is
di sruptive. " For exanple, sonmeone could be wusing a "giant
bul I horn nmounted on the top of a car” or talking in a nornal
voi ce.

REPRESENTATI VE Cl SSNA pointed out that respect is the inportant
i ssue and urged the consideration of reasonable definitions.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO gave the exanple of a person attenpting to
speak at a funeral and being prevented by others who are making
noi se. He asked which party holds the First Anmendnent right to
be heard. In response to M. Gardner's request for
clarification, he asked, "Wien am | allowed to exercise ny free
speech, unhindered by their free speech?”

MR. GARDNER said, " ... the remedy for speech that you don't
like is speech of your own ... but I don't know how to answer
that question in the context of this bill."

2:00:51 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO surnmised the 150-foot distance is a
sufficient buffer that wll protect a speaker's free speech
until the noise level and the size of the signs are increased.

In that case the 150-foot buffer beconmes neaningless, and the
gquandary is, "Wien are [the original speaker's] rights violated,
that's clear to anyone el se?”

2:02:42 PM
MR. GARDNER explained that these are classic First Amendnent

guestions about how to tailor a statute to serve the interests
of the governnent and yet |eave channels of conmunication that

are protected by the First Anmendnent. The balance for the
protection of First Amendnment rights is found in the history of
court decisions, and for the proposed bill the range of distance

fell between 300 feet and 150 feet.

REPRESENTATI VE M LLER said he strongly supports the intent of
the bill, but asked whether this is really a problemin Al aska.

2: 04: 09 PM

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -10- February 9, 2012



MR. SCHROEDER responded that he was not aware of any protests in
the state.

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN observed that there are a |ot of prospective
l aws in Al aska.

2:04:43 PM
CO- CHAI R THOVWPSON opened public testinony.
2: 04: 59 PM

JEFFREY M TTMAN, Executive Director, Anmerican Cvil Liberties
Uni on of Al aska (ACLU of Al aska), stated that ACLU of Al aska and
he support the intent of the bill which is to allow individuals
who are grieving to do so in a respectful manner. Also, he and
ACLU of Alaska do not support the "incredibly offensive"
protests of the nenbers of the Westboro, Kansas, Baptist Church.
He informed the conmttee that ACLU of Alaska has a nmandate to
protect constitutional freedons enjoyed by Anericans, yet the
protection of constitutional rights is not always easy or
pl easant, as in the case of its defense of the rights of Nazis
in the 1960s. Unfortunately, although the proposed bil

attenpts to nove in the right direction, his organization
believes there are infirmties such as the definition of
pi cketing as protest activities. He advised that a court wll
define a protest as "actions which express disrespect or
di sapproval ," and this puts the bill in the real mof "noncontent
neutral |egislation.” M. Mttman rem nded the conmttee that
the US. Court of Appeals Eighth CGrcuit disapproved simlar
legislation and the Sixth G rcuit approved; however, the U S.
Suprenme Court has clearly indicated its disapproval of a case

regarding the intentional infliction of enotional distress.
M. Mttman opined the |anguage in HB 234 broadly defines the
ar eas protected as churches, nor tuari es, funeral s, and
cenmeteries, and in Anchorage the bill would not be found
content-neutral in time, place, and manner restriction. He
offered to work with the bill drafter and the conmttee to

remedy the bill
2:08:49 PM

CO CHAI R SADDLER asked for the distance between a protester and
a funeral event that would be supported by the courts.

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -11- February 9, 2012



MR MTTMAN stated that the issue nust be broken into two
aspects and anal yzed separately: the action of a silent sign
hol der may be offensive, but is not disruptive of the funeral
the action of one far away nmay "pierce the walls of the church”
wi th sound and successfully disrupt the conduct of the funeral
He said distance may not be the best way to determne the
constitutional issues because the courts will protect the rights
of one to conduct a cerenony, but will not protect an individua
fromhurtful behavior in a public place.

2:10: 46 PM
MR MTTMAN, in response to Representative Lynn, said an
of fensive sign can be avoided or fleeting, so the courts have

determined that it is protected. However, the sanme nessage
repeated in a manner to disrupt a cerenony, is not protected.

2:11:48 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN expressed his belief that an offensive sign
is disruptive by its nature.

MR MTTMAN agreed that the point can be argued, but the U S
Suprene Court said this was constitutionally protected.

2:13: 06 PM

CO CHAI R THOWPSON observed that the penalty created by the bil
is that of a msdeneanor of disorderly conduct, which is the

same as 36 other states. However, several states direct that
the second offense is a felony, and Indiana and M chigan
classify the first offense as a felony. He inquired as to

Al aska's penalties for m sdeneanor crines of disorderly conduct.
2:14: 25 PM

ANNE CARPENETI, Assistant Attorney GCeneral, Legal Services
Section, Crimnal Division, Departnent of Law, advised that the
penalty for disorderly conduct is a maximum of 10 days in jai
and a $300 fine.

CO CHAIR SADDLER asked if the bill is passed as drafted, on what
grounds it may be chal | enged.

2:16: 11 PM

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -12- February 9, 2012



M5. CARPENETI said a challenge may arise if someone were
prosecuted for violation of the statute.

MR. GARDNER stated that a challenge nmay be close to the issues
previously raised by ACLU of Alaska in its witten nmenorandum
found in the commttee packet. Al though the statute would be
litigated on the particular facts of the situation, the |egal
issues that would come up are outlined in the nmenorandum He
agreed with M. Mttman that the outconme would be up to the
Al aska Suprene Court and whether it is persuaded by the Sixth
Crcuit, or the Eighth Crcuit, appellate courts. As to the
second question, M. Gardner said the weakness of all picketing
cases is the balance between the protection of free speech and
the protection of the interests of people to be free from
interference, while they are a captive audience. The cases
regarding people in the position of a captive audience have
divided the courts, and he opined this could be debated before
the Alaska Suprene Court on whether the captive audience
description should be extended to funeral protests. Pr ecedent
on the captive audience cases has been focused on protest
activities in the home or in abortion clinics, and the final
answer i s unknown.

COCHAIR THOWPSON determined there was no further public
t esti nony.

2:19:29 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN offered a conceptual anendnment to change
"150 feet" to "300 feet" anywhere it appears in HB 234.

2:19:57 PM
REPRESENTATI VE Cl SSNA obj ected for the purpose of discussion.

REPRESENTATI VE Cl SSNA said her concern is that it specifies nore
space than i s needed.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO expressed his concern that changes to the
bill will increase the chance of |egal challenges |ater on.

2:21:49 PM

REPRESENTATI VE AUSTERVAN asked for the sponsor's opinion on the
change to 300 feet.

2:22: 08 PM

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -13- February 9, 2012



MR. SCHROEDER advised the sponsor agrees with Representative
Gatto.

CO CHAIR SADDLER agreed with the intent of the anmendment, but
without a firm answer from |l egal counsel, would not support the
anmendnent .

REPRESENTATI VE Cl SSNA mai nt ai ned her objection.
2:25:47 PM

A roll call vote was taken. Representative Lynn voted in favor
of the conceptual anendnent. Representatives Mller, Gtto,
Austernman, Cissna, Saddler, and Thonpson voted against it.
Therefore, the conceptual amendnent failed by a vote of 1-6.

2:26: 04 PM

REPRESENTATI VE M LLER proposed a situation in which a terrorist
is being buried with nuch cerenony in his town, and suggested he
may want to protest. Wth the passage of HB 234, he cautioned
that he may lose his right to protest. Representative Ml er
said he was not sure if the bill could withstand a chall enge.

CO CHAIR THOWSON pointed out that a legal protest could take
pl ace.

2:26:33 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN stressed that the bill protects those who
are grieving, and they are innocent of any w ongdoing, no matter
what were the actions of the deceased.

CO CHAIR SADDLER condemmed the activities of the Wstboro
Baptist Church and comended the commttee's wllingness to
study constitutional inplications, and its efforts to pass
defensible law. He said he would support the bill.

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN noved to report HB 234, Version 27-LS0627\ B,
out of conmttee wth individual recommendations and the
acconpanying fiscal notes. There being no objection, HB 234 was
reported out of the House Special Conmittee on Mlitary and
Veterans' Affairs

2:28:33 PM

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -14- February 9, 2012



ADJ OURNVENT

There being no further business before the commttee, the House

Special Commttee on Mlitary and Veterans' Affairs neeting was
adjourned at 2:28 p.m

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE - 15- February 9, 2012



